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MANAGEMENT SUMMARY

In November and December 1999, staff from the TXDOT Archeol ogi cal Studies Program conducted

archeol ogical investigationson aportion of site41BO185, areported possibleCivil War-eramilitary
encampment, within the boundaries of a proposed widening project on SH 35 in BrazoriaCounty. The
archeological investigationscons sted of acombination backhoe trenchingand hand-dug test unitsexcavated
acrossthe portion of the site within the project areato locate and identify featuresand artifact concentrations.
Thegoal of thetesting wasto determinetheintegrity of the portion of the site within the Areaof Potential Effect
(APE) and todeterminewhether thisportion of thesiteiseligiblefor inclusionon the National Register of
HistoricPlaces(NRHP).

Thearcheological investigationsidentified acistern, abrick scatter that may represent the remainsof acollapsed
chimney, afireplace base, post molds, and variousartifacts. The features appeared to represent a structureor
structuresthat dateto about the period of the Civil War. However, they are more likely related to adomestic
structure, rather than amilitary camp site. The most likely civil war related artifact found during thefieldwork
wasafragment of abayonet. However, no definitivearcheological evidencethat aCivil War camp sitewasat
thislocation wasfound duringfieldwork. It is possiblethat ground disturbing activity, such as sod harvesting,
may haveerased any trace of the site.

Based on theresultsof thisinvestigation,the portion of 41B 0185 |ocated within the project boundarieswill not
contributeto the potential NRHPeligibility of the site. Nofurther archeological work is recommended for the
portion of the site within the present SH 35 project area.
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INTRODUCTION

Improvements to State Highway 35 (SH 35)
were authorized as a Demonstration Project by
the Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency
Act of 1991 and the projectisincluded in the
1993 Transition Project Development Plan. In
1994 an Environmental Assessment was begun
of proposed improvements between FM 2540 in
the town of Van Vleck and State Highway 288 in
Angleton, Brazoria County, Texas. As part of the
Environmental Assessment an archeological
survey was performed between June 7 and
August 190f that year. During the course of the
survey, historic debris, bricksand reports of the
presence of acistern resulted in the recording of
site41B0O185.

A report of the archeological investigations
along SH 35 was submitted to the Texas Histori-
cal Commission Department of Antiquities
Protection with the recommendation that
41B0185 required testing for a National Resister
of Historic Places (NRHP) determination of
eligibility. Concurrence with that recommenda-
tion was received September 15, 1994. Local
informants reported that the location was the site
of aCivil War campground, and their reports of
military type artifacts previously collected from
the area supported that identification. The site's
location remained in private ownership while
TxDOT finalized thedesign of SH 35.

In November, 1999the Archeological Studies
Program was notified by the Houston District
office that access to the property had been
approved. Between November 15and Decem-
ber 1 of 1999 subsurface testing was performed
in the area to determine the site's integrity and
significance. A metal detector was employed
within the proposed right of way to locate
concentrations of metal artifacts. Although a
combination of backhoe trenches and hand-dug
test units were excavated at intervals across the
entire field in an attempt to locate and identify
features and artifact concentrations, no clear
evidence of the Civil War campagn was found.
The following report contains the resultsof those
explorations, and the recommendationsfor future
work at 41BO185.

ENVIRONMENTAL
BACKGROUND

BrazoriaCounty islocated within the coastal
prairiealong the Gulf of Mexicoin the southeast-
em portion of Texas (Figure 1). The countyis
1,407 square milesin size, with sixty feet being
it's highest point above sealevel. The annual
rainfall isfifty-twoinches and the mean annual
temperatureis 69 F Hurricanes and tropical
depressionsthat often result in extensive flooding
arecommon in the area. During particularly
largefloods it has been said that the entire
county, with the exception of Damon Mound, has
been underwater. Asaresult of it's proximity to
the Gulf Coast and recurrent flooding episodes,
thesoilsarechiefly aluvial loamsandsilty clays
that are highly productive for agricultura pur-
poses. The growing season averages 309 days a
year and thislong growing season, in conjunction
with therich alluvial soil, influenced theearly
historic period settlement patterns and land use
of the area.

The BrazosRiver divides the county with the
one-third west of the river covered by hard-
woodsand theeastern portion being mainly
prairie. When Anglo settlers arrived early in the

19th century, they found abundant wildlife such
asdeer, bear, turkey and fish. Also abundant,
particularly on the grasslands, were large herds
of feral cattle, resulting from the earlier importa-
tion of cattle into the areato the west and south
by the Spanish.

The soilsin the project areaare Asasilt loam
and Asasilty clay loam (Crenwelge 198 1).
Thesesoils areidentified as nearly level. Undis-
turbed Asa soils have a surface layer of neutral,
very dark grayish brown silt loam 12to 14inches
thick. Thisisunderlain by amoderately alkaline
calcareous, light brown loam below which isfirm
calcareousreddish yellow silty clay loam. The
Asasoil complexes are rarely flooded and this
typeof land is used mostly for pasture and crop
production. This soil type indicates an areathat
would have been in dense hardwoods at the time
of colonization.
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CULTURAL BACKGROUND

The earliest recorded residents of what is
now Brazoria County consisted of small bands of
Karankawa Indians. They were foragers and
moved frequently toexploit the natural game,
floraand coastal resources on a seasona basis. A
few of these Native Americans remained in the
area until 1824 when the battle of Jones Creek
resulted in their expulsion by theAnglo settlers of
Austin'scolony.

Brazoria County was hot settled by the
Spanish and there was no European settlement in
the area until the early 1820's. However, some
early activity in the areaincluded excursions by
AlvarNunez Cabeza de Vaca, after a shipwreck;
Alonso De Leon, searching for La Salle; Joaguin
de Orobio y Basterra, searching for French
intruders; Spanish settlers, trading with the
Indians; and possibly the pirate Jean Laffite, to
rendezvous and bury treasure at the mouth of the
BrazosRiver.

The area was selected for settlement by
Stephen F. Austin in 1824 and 89 of Austin's "'Old
Three Hundred" received grants in what is now
Brazoria County. The earliest communities were
Velasco, East Columbia(Bells' Landing or
Marion), Columbia (now West Columbia), and
Brazoria.

Josiah Hughes Bell was the founder of both
East and West Columbia. He had been born in
South Carolinain 1791. Bell apprenticed with his
unclesin the hat business in Tennessee and then
moved to Missouri Territory where he became a
justice of the peace and served in the Indian wars
after the war of 1812. He went back to manufac-
turing hats and dealt in pelts for awhile but in
1818 hesold hisfarm in Missouri, married Mary
Eveline McKenzie and, after ashort timein
Natchitoches, Louisiana, moved to Texas with
Austinin 1821. Josiah and Mary Eveling's son,
Thaddeus C. Bell, was the second white child
born in Austin's colony.

Bell wasan important figurein the colony,
and took charge of businessaffairs while Austin
wasin Mexico. On February 10,1823, Bell's land
grants were located, by surveyor Horatio
Chriesman, on the west side of the lower Brazos
River and in January of 1824 he moved to Bell's

Creek (now Varner Creek) (Figure 2). By 1829 a
community had grown up around Bell's Landing,
which became known as Marion and was an
important inland port. Bell raised sugar cane
along the creek's banks and subsequently in 1826
laid out the town of Columbia two miles west of
Marion which then became known as East
Columbia. In 1837, after Texas won it's indepen-
dencefrom Mexico, Josiah Bell sold hisholdings
in Marion/East Columbiaand moved to West
Columbia, where hedied on May 17, 1838.

Columbia was the capital of the Republic of
Texasfrom September to December 1836, and it
was there that the First Congress of the Republic
of Texas convened and Sam Houston was
inaugurated as president. In November of that
year the capital was moved to the new city of
Houston on Buffalo Bayou. A month later on
December 27, 1836, Stephen F. Austin, Secretary
of State, died in Columbia at the home of George
B. McKinstry.

During the civil war there were at least 26
military Campslocated in Brazoria County
(Winsor 1978) which was in the Third Military
District and later in the Central Military Sub-
District of Texas. In 1863, Texas wasdivided into
three sub-districts; an Eastern Sub-District, a
Northern Sub-District; and a Western Sub-
District. The Western Sub-District was com-
manded successively by Brigadier Generals
Hamilton P. Bee and James E. Slaughter (Beers
1968)

A number of civil war eracamps were
established along the Brazos River asamain line
of resistance between Matagorda Bay and
Houston. The structures at these camps were
described as being little pens, thatched with
Spanish moss, but warm and large enough to
accommodate two soldiers (Winsor 1978). There
were al so more permanent installations with more
durable architecture. According to Winsor (1978)
the outskirts of East Columbiawas the site of a
small shop in which Georgeand William Dance
produced the handsome " Dance Pistol.” In 1863
the brothers formed a partnership with a Mr.
Parks and operated a business there until 1864,
when Federal troop movements along Caney
Creek increased. At that time their machinery
and equipment were moved to Anderson.



& Horgfio N Z TCLTT T LG

i ‘ . I\‘ L L

vg Lotekity Wiest I :(:.L&\vem $ ? o SR & T g ;': mwr

:s'* t-gs 1 u%% - T\ G

e Rl iese _ ) "““"g hefh. F Austd

) Lo JR— s SRR,
& - % §13 P o g & &"-‘v hi;fﬁ?
A o] oot al 1. y Fgae aas. fe\.("“ &
» P : { o
ﬁ [y -."’ smﬂ' o 3 wﬁ%‘é‘ Hrtware 7?&% %
2 -] & L-F2 “’-’ ’wu«
‘\ ';;‘3;%: E 5 ot § 0‘ L B, Q { Ric?mz‘dw
e T aw’fm K] i & aryetd gﬂ-&? » AT AR et “ﬁ;wmj&;
’ % TS o pavis T i i o . "
‘c“f Dguie £ -l 4; i3 B - e ﬁ.ﬁ‘; mnwﬁa‘m Wz{i oy gl 2
J \914 8 § ek, F - i i
/ P aa‘&.‘ : o ’E‘ ¢ Inae
“ﬁ %7 s &-77 é‘ uua =7,

B, ODovig

- R T

Current Location of
| East Columbla

L A SRLEES
'ﬁ‘ Vi &-PIes
"i

A\ u.pa . wy_? ngu“

West Columbla

\ ot
w,,«** E : Nl T - AP
‘r& AP VS 7 ;::!E%. . ;R

Figure 2: The Original Land Grant of Josiah H. Bell. Bell established both East and West Columbia. East Columbia was
first named Marion. West Columbiawas originally named Columbia(Maponfileat TXDOT).




One of the two permanent encampments
recorded by Winsor (1978) may have been
located on what is now the project area. Camp
Bernard Bee was described by him as being
located near Columbia on the Brazos River.
Major H. Wilke was the commander of the
garrison in 1864. The 13thTexasVolunteer
Infantry was stationed there in May of 1865. The
post became the headquartersfor the Central
Sub-district of Texason April 30, 1865, at which
time Colonel Joseph Bates replaced Mgjor Wilke
as commanding officer.

The other permanent encampment, Camp
Slaughter, was located on the Brazos River near
Columbia on property owned by Mr. Brown. The
encampment named for Brigadier General JE.
Slaughter, was established by membersof the 4th
Infantry Regiment, Texas State Troops. Camp
Slaughter had alarge hospital and severa
barracks.

The names of both of these encampments
derived from the two generalsthat commanded
the Western Sub-District of Texas. Either of
these encampments could have been located in
the area of the proposed SH 35 improvements.

ARCHEOLOGICAL SURVEY

Between June 7 and August 19, 1994, staff
members of the Archeological Studies Program,
Environmental AffairsDivision, Texas Depart-
ment of Transportation; conducted apedestrian
survey with shovel testing of the proposed SH 35
right of way. They spoke with alocal informant
who indicated that there was a Civil War period
encampment just east of the city limitsof West
Columbia. Asaresult of thisinformation, an
intensive survey was conducted on two tracts of
land at this location. One of the tractscontained
an open field of mown grass, used for sod
production. Private collectorshad reportedly
found abuckle, several buttons, and numerous
metal artifactsincluding acannonball at this
location.

Seven shovel tests were excavated and some
unidentifiable metal fragmentsand brick frag-
ments were recovered. The land owner, Mr.
Marcus Weems reported that he had knocked the
topof abrick cisterninandfilleditin 1946.

Shovel Test 5 (Figure 3), recovered brick frag-
ments, glass, and metal fragments and it was
concluded that these were in the location of the
cistern. Mr. A.H. Weems, brother of the land-
owner, stated that a house was located near the
cistern as recently as the turn of the century.

Two additional shovel tests were placed in
the wooded area to the east of the open field
because local informants had indicated that the
site extended in that direction. These shovel tests
located an areaof brick scatter. In addition locals
indicated that the site also extended across SH 35
and to the south for some unknown distance. As
aresult of thissurvey, site 41BO185 was re-
corded and recommended for testing.

ARCHEOLOGICAL TESTING

The recorded site, 4 1BO185, is located on
the north side of SH 35 just outside the eastern
city limits of West Columbia, BrazoriaCounty,
Texas (see Figure 1). The site was recorded in
1994 as aresult of information supplied by alocal
informant and survey with shovel testing. It was
recommended that the site should be tested in
order to determine its historical significance and
the THC concurred. The site was tested between
November 15 and December 1, 1999. Diane
Dismukes of the Archeology Studies Program of
TxDOT directed the testing project. Jesus
Gonzalez, JulieLane, and Pat McLaughlin of the
Environmental Affairs Divisionin Austin and Kurt
Kamman, Environmental Coordinator with the
Houston District Office, assisted with thefield
work.

THE BRICK SCATTER

The brick scatter in the wooded area at the
extreme eastern end of the site delineated in
1994, was relocated. At thislocation, TXDOT
acquired 125 feet of new right of way and this
distance was measured with stakes set to mark
the proposed right of way. An area of approxi-
mately seven feet square was cleared of brush
and soil down to the surface of the brick at the
southern end of the scatter (Figure 4). The
surface of the brick was between 4 to 8 inches
below current ground surface. The bricks
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appeared to belaying flat on the ground, however
there was no pattern to their arrangement and
broken and half bricks were present. The bricks
were used with many still having mortar adhering
to their surfaces. The bricks are soft paste, some
having portions of glaze, and may have been
produced during the antebellum period. Theonly
artifact present in the removed overburden from
this area was one bone fragment. Bricks which
are part of the unidentified standing walls of the
sugar house and cistern at the Varner Hogg
Plantation, just north of the project area, were
examined and found to besimilar to the bricks
scattered at the edge of the TXxDOT right-of-way.

In an attempt to ascertain the depth of the
brick deposit and determine if it resulted from the
fall of a wall, a north-south trench was hand

excavated across the southern end of this area
(Figure5). A few artifacts consisting of another
bone fragment, a piece of crockery, and a
number of nails, bent in an L shape, were found
scattered across the surface of the brick. Black
wax and some window glass was also found near
the base of alarge oak tree growing through the
brick rubble. Although there was some mixing,
the bricks appear to be one layer thick across the
area. The soil below the bricks was undisturbed
and contained no cultural materials.

The brick scatter was explored as far north
as the edge of the proposed right-of-way, it
appeared some brick may extend beyond this
limit (Figure6). Much of the brick surface was
cleared and the outer edges on the east, west,
and south were located. Shovel tests were placed
five feet from the outer edges of the brick and
spaced at five-foot intervalsall around the brick
scatter (Figure 4). The soil from these tests was
screened and found to be culturally sterile. No
evidence of features was seen in any of the
shovel tests. Occasionally when the soil was
scraped from the surface, the brick appeared to
have a pattern as if it had been intentially placed
(see Figure 7). Whenever this apparent pattern
was found those bricks were removed and the
area beneath them examined. No evidence of
intentional masonry work was discovered. It was
decided that the apparent pattern was a result of
the dumping of mortared bricks. The mortar has
since dissolved from between them. This area of
brick scatter was mapped and photographed (see
Figure5).

THE GRrAssy FIELD

A metal detector was employed to survey the
small open areajust north of SH 35 east of
County Road 468 near the wooded area. A buried
cable was detected in this area as well asthe
remnants of a barbed wire fence. The area was
at thetime of fieldwork the location of afire-
works stand, and there was much modem trash
and debris scattered about. The metal detector
was then used in the large grassy field north of
SH 35 and west of CR 468. A few soundings
were marked along the edge of the highway,
particularly in the areaof some large billboards



Figure 5: A trench was excavated across the southern end of the brick scatter to expose subsurface
disturbance, or foundation trenches.

Figure6: The northern end of the brick scatter appears to extend beyond the northern
TxDOT right of way limit which isin the upper left portion of this photo.



of artifacts, disturbed soil, or foundation below it:

that were located there. The area identified as
the location of the cistern by the survey crew
was examined, and the number of buried metal
objectsincreased dramatically. All of the objects
identified with the metal detector were marked
with pin flags and resulted in afairly dense
pattern. Subsurface exploration with shovel tests
resulted in thelocation of some brick. Thisarea
was further examined by mechanical trenching
by a backhoe.

On November 17, 1999, backhoetrenching
was conducted in the area reported to be the
location of thecistern (Figures8 and 9). Scrape
#| located some brick chips, ironstone,
whiteware, and square nhails within 6 inches of
the current ground surface, just below the grass
roots. At about 12 inches below current ground
surface the soil became lighter in color and the
silt content increased. This layer wasdevoid of
artifacts and appeared to be undisturbed. A
second scrape was begun north of thefirst
scrape and a large number of brick fragments
were found with an increase in artifact density.
Screens were set up and the soil that was
scraped from this area was screened through 1/4
inch mesh.

An area about eight feet by twelve feet was
scraped in an attempt to locate a feature or an
artifact concentration that would indicate a trash
pile (see Figure 9). The artifacts appeared to be a
general scatter and no features were located.
Artifacts which were temporally or functionally
diagnostic were collected. The remainder of the
artifacts were examined but not collected.

Trench # 1 wasextended east of the artifact
scatter and immediately located achimney base
(Figure 10). The direction of the trenching was
changed to anorth to south lineand in alignment
with the brick feature, eight feet south of the
southeast comer of the chimney base. The
remains of a post were located (Figure 11). The
absence of any other indications of foundation
suggested that the structure had been of post and
beam construction (Figure 12).and an attempt
was made to identify the structure's perimeter.
Some of the posts had apparently been removed
or had disintegrated over time, leaving only the
faint outlines of post molds(Figures 13, 14 and
15). No artifacts were present in association with
either the chimney base or the posts.

When the trench was extended to the east
(see Figure9), acistern, Feature 3, was found at
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what would have been the northeast corner of of which was found within the cistern and was

the house structure. A backhoe was used to removed along with all of the modern debris. No

excavate the debris in search of historic deposits evidence of pre-1900 cultural materials was

that may have been present. The cistern (Figure found in the cistern. Mr. Weems reported that he

16) wasexcavated to help define the function of had filled the cistern in 1946, however some

the site; but it wasfilled with sand and modern Fiesta Ware fragments were present in the

debris. cistern with the date of October 1947 stamped on
Thecistern was 10 feet in diameter and six the base.

feet 10 inches deep. It was constructed of soft An absence of cultural materials between the

paste brick and was plastered on theinside and artifact scatter discovered at the west end of the

on the base. It once had adomed brick lid, most excavations and the fireplace base, Feature 2,

posed the possibility of the presence of aportion
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Figure 9: Sitemap of Trenched Area showing trenches, features, postsand post
molds.and areaof artifact scatter.
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of the structurein that location. The backhoe was
used to excavate a trench extending west from
the post located south of the fireplace (Trench

#2, see Figure 9). A bum pit (Figure 17), Feature
4, was located in this area which contained
pieces of acast iron wood stove and other
assorted artifacts, including a piece of a bayonet .
A profiledrawing was made of this pit area
which, beow ground surface, was relatively free
of artifactsand contained an ashy gray sandy
sediment mixed with small charcoal bits(Figure
18).
The backhoe was used to: 1) excavate a
trench at the west end of the project area and 2)
a series of trenches across the site (see Figure
8). The trenches were approximately four meters
in length and were placed at 20 meter intervals.
Thefirst seriesof trenches was placed just inside
the proposed right of way at the north edge of the
project area.

A second fireplace base (Feature 5) was
located north of the first (Feature 2), and dlightly
to the east of a north south line from that location
(Figure 19). This second fireplaceis aligned 90
to thefirst and it wasfelt that either there had

been amulti-room structure on the property or
that there had been more than one structureat
thislocation (see Figure 9). An attempt was
made to locate posts associated with this fire
place base and a disturbance was found 1 Ofeet
east of the southeast comer of the fireplace. It
was so ephemeral, however that it could not be
positively identified asapost mold. Asecond
anomaly was located in thisarea and both were
photographed and mapped. Both soil stains
disappeared with the next backhoe scrape (see
Figure9).

The backhoe was used to scrape a trench
across the structure location from the northern
edge of the project area to the south (Trench 7,
see Figure 9). Small brick chips were scattered
all across the area, probably as a result of the
previous disturbance. Thisentire trench proved to
be sterile except for the previously identified post
mold #3 and a small area at the extreme southern
edge 25 feet north of the current right of way
limit. A small trash area containing ash, Feature 6,
charcoal and a few artifacts, was located near
what remained of a post, #7. This deposit was
interpreted as fire place cleanings dumped

were found in association with this feature.

Figure 10: Feature 2, a brick fireplace base, had only two courses of brick remaining. No artifacts



Figure 11: Post#1 was found south of thefront edge of Feature 2, the brick fireplace
remains.

. - # R ‘.v 3
- ‘Pasts Supporting Beams 4!-—""" Chimney rests_d;re-:tl_f
e L s : on the ground
Figure 12: This is an example of post and beam construction with brick chimneys. The picture was
taken by Thomas T. Waterman in 1940 and published in back of the Big House. The Architecture of
Plantation Slavery by John Michael Vlach. Thisisa slave quarter from Henrico County, Virginia.




Figure 14: There were no wood fragments left of post #3 which was located east of
and in line with #s 1 and 2.



Figure 15: Post mold #4 was located north of the northeast corner of the brick
fireplace base (Feature?2).

Figure 16: Feature 3, was a brick walled cistern.
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along afenceline. so it was decided to scrape
west in aline parallel to the posts of the struc-
ture. Noadditional posts, post molds, or other
features or artifacts were identified as a result of
thiseffort (Trench 8, see Figure 9).

The trench was then extended east from the
small trash pit and only afew small bits of
window glass were present. An attempt to extend
the trench further south (Trench 7, see Figure 9)
resulted in thedisruption of cabletelevision for
the entire area. The area south of the newly
identified buried cable wasasmall riseconsisting
of overburden with small oyster shell fragments.

Visua inspection of thegrassy field north of
the project areaindicated that structures may at
one time have been located in line with and

s

extending north of the identified features. There
appeared to bea series of small rises at intervals
of approximately 60 meters. These were not
examined, since they were not within the project
area, but may give some indication as to the size
of theorigina site.

An intensive effort was made to locate
additional subsurface features to the west of the
identified habitation site (see Figure 8), including
the privy. Numerous trenches were excavated in
this area. Three possible pier supports, exhibited
in the form of faint post molds werelocated near
asmall tree at the edge of the current right of
way. No other evidence of cultural activity was
located within the project area.

Figure 17: Feature 4 was a burn pit with cast iron stove parts on the surface. The

artifactswere recovered from thegray ashy layer just below the grass. The darker sail in

the base of the pit did not contain any artifacts.
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Figure 19: Feature 5 was a second brick fireplace base.
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FEATURE DESCRIPTIONS

Feature 1

A brick scatter was found in the area north
of SH 35and just east of CR 468 (see Figure 5).
The brick uncovered in this area was hand made,
and dates to the middle of the 19th century. They
had been used previously as was evidenced by
mortar still clinging to some of the brick. Bricks
and fragments were mixed in this single layer
scatter. The artifacts associated with this feature
are listed in Table 1. The only datable artifacts
date after 1890.

None of the artifacts, which were located on
the surface of the brick scatter, dated before
1890. Although the whiteware may have been
produced and used prior to that time, no datable
marks were found, and this type of ceramic is still
made.

No functional purpose could be ascertained
for the brick scatter. No evidence of a structure,
or associated artifacts was found and it was
decided the brick scatter was the result of

dumping.

Table 1:” Artifacts associated with the brick scatter.
Description Date

1 Left Tibia( 50% of proximal diaphasis) junknown

of a deer. The bone is hatchet cut,

evidences some small carnivore chewing

and is heavily rodent gnawed.

1 Brown glass snuff bottle base fragment Unknown

2 Whiteware fragments Unknown

1 Clear glass,flask base,fragment Unknown

(mol ded)

10+ wire nails Post 1890

Artifacts in italics were examined in the field but not collected.
Feature 2
Feature 2 consisted of chimney base which
was located by backhoe scraping (Figure 11).
The brick surface was just below the grass roots.
Two courses of brick remained of the base,
which was five feet six inches north/south by
three feet east/west. The only artifact recovered
near this brick feature was one large cut spike
that dates prior to 1890.
Table 2: Artifact associated with Feature 2.

Description Date

<1890

1 Spike (cut iron)

18

Feature 3

Feature 3 was a plaster-lined brick cistern
located by backhoe trenching (Figure 11). The
cistern was located east of the brick hearth and
post molds which were considered to be evidence
of a structure. The cistern was intact to its base.
The cistern was 10 feet in diameter and six feet
10 inches deep. The brick used to construct the
cistern was hand made soft paste. These bricks
date to the middle of the 19thcentury. The cistern
originally was capped with a domed brick top, the
remains of which were found within the cistern.
Both the brick and the style of cistern construc-
tion was the same as that on numerous antebel-
lum sites in the area.

Excavation of the cistern found that all of the
cultural material was likely from the 1940's when
the cistern was reportedly filled in. Some fiesta
ware, stamped November 1947, was recovered
from the surface of the sand that filled the
cistern. Mr. Weems, the property owner, had
indicated that he knocked the top of the cistern in
and filled it in 1946 in order to level the field for
sod production. No evidence of pre 1900's
artifacts was found in association with the
cistern.

Table 3. Artifacts associated with Feature 4.

Description Date
| Button — 4 hole glass, pie crust type unknown
2 Buttons — 4 hole shell unknown
1 Whiteware fragment, Red transfer print |unknown
- Platter or serving tray
1 Whiteware rosette, probably a handle  (unknown |
I Cast iron fagment with embossed unknown
letters CO in two places
1 Bayonet fragment (possible Civil War  |unknown
era)
6 Bone fragments- unidentifiable unknown
2 Shell fragments — wave worn - unknown
unidentifiable
1 Glass handle fragment — pink, molded |unknown
2 Sikes . square <1890
9 Whiteware fragments — 1 charred unknown
1Cut nail <1890
2 Qyster shells unknown
1 Glassfragment - clear,flask unknown
1 Glassfragment- palegreen lunknownJ

Artifacts in italics were examined in the field but not collected.



Table 4: Artifacts associated with Feature 5.

Description Date
1 Heavily rusted triangular metal objects hLlj(nlf]OVm
— possible portions of a bayonet 1983' pre-
Table 5: Artifacts associated with Feature 6.
Description Date
| Mik Glass Disk, scalloped edges with |1886
patent informationon concave side
| Piece of a turtle shell unknown
1 Mother-of pearl button unknown
1 Fragment of a porcelain plate unknown
1 Whiteware plate fragment decorated Junknown
with a brown rim edge
| Small fragment brown glazed unknown
stoneware
2 Bone Fragments (Portion of the lunate
surface of the acetabulum of a cow unknown
pelvis; distal diaphasis portion of
metatarsus of a cow — hatchet chopped
and with marks indicating meat removal)
7 Unidentifiable metalfragments unknown
5 Thin metal fragments (can or metal unknown
tableware)
1 Wire fragment unknown
4 Round nails >1890
1 Medicine bottle neck (molded - unknown
stretched neck, applied lip)
2 Clear bottle glass fragments unknown
1 Wire bottle glass fragment (opaque | unknown
brown)
7 Whiteware fragments ( no marks — not | unknown
datable)

Artifacts in italics were examined in the field but not collected.

Feature 4

Feature 4 was a pit filled with ash and
charcoal (Figure 9). The surface of this pit
contained a large number of cast iron stove parts
and a small rusted proximal portion of a bayonet.
A small amount of crushed shell was present
within the ashy matrix. The surface of the pit
contained a few artifacts and the soil from this
area was screened. The artifacts associated with
Feature 4 are listed in Table 3. Only the nails
were datable to before 1890. The area was

19

excavated to the base of the pit and the south
wall of the resulting trench was then drawn in
profile (see Figure 17, 18).

Feature5

Feature 5 consisted of a fireplace base
located at the northern limit of the proposed right
of way, and aligned at right angles with the
fireplace labeled Feature 2 (see Figure 9). The
remains of this base were approximately one half
brick thick and six feet east/west by four feet
north/south (see Figure 19). No artifacts were
associated with this feature; however, two metal
objects, possibly pieces of a bayonet were found
at the southwest corner of the brick feature, on
the surface of the soil. These possible bayonet
pieces are not datable but were probably made
prior to 1900.

Feature 6

Feature 6 consisted of small ash concentra-
tion located approximately 25 feet north of the
current right-of-way line of SH 35 (see Figure 9).
The remains of a wooden post were located five
feet west of this ash scatter. A few artifacts
were mixed with the ash and charcoal. The
artifacts associated with Feature 6 are listed in
Table 5. The datable artifacts were deposited
after 1886.

Posts aND PosT MoOLDS

A total of 10 posts or post molds were
located during the testing of 41BO185 (see
Figure 9). Post 1 and post molds 2 and 3 are in a
line east/west, 6 feet south of the fireplace,
Feature 2. This line of posts probably supported
the beam for the south wall of the structure.

THE SCRAPE WEST OF FEATURE 2

The largest number of artifacts were recov-
ered from a scrape (Feature 2) west of the
fireplace base. Other than Feature 2, no features
could be found in association with this broad thin
artifact scatter (see Figure 9). The artifacts
associated with this area are listed in Table 6.
Although the dates for these artifacts vary, there
were many that dated to 1890 and after.



Table 6: Artifactsassociated with the scraped areas West of Feature2.

Description Date
1 Ironstone earthenware (Royal Patent Ironstone. Burgess & Goddard) >1 883
3 Ydlowware fragments of a crock lid. With blue and white annular type decoration Unknown
| Yellowware with Rockingham decoration. Unusud rim fragment Unknown
| Whiteware fragment (Blue flord transfer Print — Too fragmentary to identify pattern, but printed on both sides= Unknown
large sarving piece or wash bowl)
Fragments(2 base, | neck) of whiskey flask("*shoo-fly" or coffin flask) with an A indde a cirde on the bottom with 1865-1890
a ring lip neck finish above a narrow beveed ring
2 Whiteware cup handles Unknown
Medicine embossed bottle body fragments (1 clear glass, 3 pae blue) unidentifiable Unknown
IZ Medicine bottle neck fragments (1 clear glass, 1 pae blue) molded bottles wistretched necks. One has rim missng | Unknown
—oneis an Oil or R ng finish
Brown glass bottle fragments (2 base | neck). Molded bottles base has embossed letters A B C M. Neck is Unknown
stretched with Bead finish.
1 Molded glass bowl fragment.Has a small flord design with leaves Unknown
Drinking glass base, pde green Unknown
2 Glassfragments (1 rim piece, clear frosted & | body fragment dark green frosted) Unknown
7 Buttons(3 china, 2 glass pie crust type, 1 black glass, | small4 hole shell) Unknown
| Decoratively molded cast iron fragment, piece of cook stove Unknown
| Brass shdl casing, center tire no marks Unknown
79 Bone Fragments Some >1900
13 Oyster shell halves of the szzand appearance that they were used as a foodsource Unknown
11 Brown glass snuff bottle fragments Unknown
100+ Window glass fragments Unknown
.23 Round nails various sizes- heavily rusted >1890
9 Unidentifiable metal globs — 2 appearedkey shaped Unknown
14Cut nails <1890
50+ Whiteware fragments unmarked- not datable Unknown
I1 Castiron - flat— possible stove part Unknown
|22 Flask bottle fragments(*'shoo-fly*'or coffin flask with a ring lip neck finishabove a narrow beveled ring) 1865-1890

Artifacts in italics were examined in thefield but not collected.
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ARCHIVALRESEARCH

AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH

An aeria photo (Figure 20), taken November
4, 1930, was examined for evidence of structural
remains, roads, or other features that may have
been present a a time prior to Mr. Weems
purchase of the property in 1947. Portions of this
photo were examined in detail, enlarged and
overlain with the locations of trenches excavated
and features located during the testing. It appears
that a possible privy was located west of the tree
at the north edge of the SH 35 ditch. A dark stain
can be seen in the side of the then newly created
ditch on the photo. This area was scraped with a
shovel in an attempt to locate privy deposits, but
no deposits werefound. The privy contents may
have been removed over the years as part of the
SH 35 ditch maintenance program.

Also visible on the aerial photoisthelocation
of the cistern, and some dark areas which appear
to be yard areas with lighter areas adjacent that
appear to represent the locations of the structures
(see Figure 20). A road or trail appears to enter
the project area from near the location of the
intersection of SH 35 and CR 468 and pass just
south of the largest dark area. This road then dips
south and converges with SH 35 near thedrive-
way of a private residence west of the current
project area. This road was not in use at the time
the photo was taken, since roads that were in use
clearly show up as white scars on the photo. The

— Fo Wast Columbia

Figure20: Aerial Photographof Project Area. When this picture was taken on November 4. 1930; SH 35

path to what may be a privy iSalso visible
through thedark backyard area, beginning just
north of the fireplace base (Feature 2) and
arching down to the possible privy area. Other
paths appear to be visible on the photo but are
very ephemeral.

Upon detailed examination of the photoiit
appears that the brick scatter is visible in the area
just east of CR 468 (see Figure 20). The woods
were not as dense when the photo was taken and
the large oak tree under which the scatter now
rests was smaller.

ProPERTY TITLE

It wasdiscovered during the background
research that two fairly substantial and perma-
nent Civil War Era camps were located in the
Wegt Columbia area. One was Camp Bernard
Bee, named after the brother of Gen. Hamilton P
Bee, the first commander of the Western Sub-
Digtrict of Texas. The other was Camp Slaughter,
named after Gen. James E. Slaughter the second
commander of the Western Sub-District of
Texas. Camp Slaughter is also described as
having been locatedon land belonging to Mr.
Brown at the time of the Civil War.

The Brazoria County Deed Records
(BCDR), located at the Brazoria County Court
House in Angleton, Texas were accessed and an
attempt was made to determine ownership of the
project area during the Civil War. The state of
Texas purchased the land from Marcus A.

To Last Columbia

wasagrave road and neither CR 438 nor theroad a the western edge of thesod fidd exited.



Weemsin 1999 (BCDR 413/60). Marcus Weems
purchased the land from M.P. Finkelstein on
March 7, 1947 (BCDR 4131600) and Mr.
Finkelstein had purchased it from J. H.
Underwood on May 23, 1917 (BCDR 1381287).

InVa. 138 P. 287 (BCDR) Underwood sold
the 40 113 acresto M. B. Finklestein it was
known as the Shapard place. Underwood re-
served the crop growing on the land until January
of 1918 and a so retained possession of the house
and pasture until the crops were gathered. This
deed referencesVd 134 P 367 (BCDR) which
gives specific metesand bounds of the property
for the purposesof an oil lease but does not
reference a deed of sale.

Underwood purchased the land from J. H.
Snow on Sept 25, 1908 (BCDR 811391). Prior to
1908 the chain of titleislesscertain. It appears
that J. H. Snow sold this same land to GH.
Sweeney in April of 1901 and according to the
deed in Va. 81p. 391 Underwood purchased
only one square acre of land. A deed exists that
shows that Underwood leased the land from J. L.
Dullansin July of 1898 and then signed an ail
lease in May of 1917 which referencesthe metes
and boundsof the land leased, but no reference is
made to the deed of purchase. The deed for the
sale of theland from Underwood to Finkelstein
referencesthis oil lease deed instead of the
actual deed of purchase so the chain for the
reversetransfer of property islost a this point.

Although there was not time to trace the
specific piece of property there is no evidence
that any lands from the Josiah Bell patent were
ever purchased by a Mr. Brown. The name
Shapard also appeared in these records many
times but it was not clear if one of them had
owned the project area which in 1918 was sold
by Underwood to Finklestein. It is possiblethat a
more completechain of titlecould beestablished,
however, since the land did not belong to Mr.
Brown during the Civil War it is unlikdly thiswas
thelocation of Camp Slaughter.

The name Shapard does appear in Texas at
an early date when alicense was issued in
Washington County for the marriage of John W.
Brooksto S. Jane Shappard on November 26,
1847 (Ray 1970; 204).

22

ARTIFACTANALYSSRESULTS

All of the recovered bone was collected and
returned to the lab for analysis. Of the other
artifact typesfound, only those specimensor
fragments with diagnostic potential were returned
to the archeology laboratory for analysis.

Nails

Nailsprovide oneexcellent sourcefor dating
historic period sites. The Gulf Coast area of
Texas was settled during a time when the
production of cut nails was being improved. By
the 1820's anail making machine had been
developedthat produced uniform nailsin aquick
and efficient way. Both nailsexhibit square
bodies, but the nails produced by the earlier
method, between 1790 and 1830, have small
burrson thediagonally oppositeedges. Cut nails
produced by the new method can be identified by
the location of the burrs on the same side. These
nails were used from 1820 to 1900. By about
1886, 10percent of the nails produced in the
United States were made of soft steel wire. By
1892 more steel-wire nails were being produced
than iron-cut nails, therefore, adate of 1890is
chosen for the advent of the round nail in
Brazoria County (Visser 1996). Although some
cut nails were recovered from 41B0185, the
majority of the nails present at the site were
round.

Ceramics

Ceramicscan frequently provide dates of
manufacture. Depending on the makers marks
recovered from a site, dates can be specific, or
within arange. Hand painted and transfer print
wares can frequently be dated by identification of
the design. As styles and techniqueschanged,
design applicationsand styleschanged. These
changes have been documented and when
identifiable they can be used to place a piece of
ceramic within aspecific period. Large amounts
of broken ceramic from archeological sitesare
often not datable becausethey do not exhibit a
makers or exporters mark and they have no
identifiable pattern. With that in mind, thefew
ceramic pieceswith the potentia to provide
tempord information wereexamined.



A piece of whiteware was discovered in the Porcelain™ which wascalled "' [ronstone™

artifact scatter to the west of Feature 2 which (Godden 1965). The wordsin block print all
had a partial mark (Figure21:A). The word capitol letters"" MASON'S PATENT IRON-
"ROYAL" can be read below an image, most of STONE CHINA" or "PATENT IRONSTONE
which ismissing. Below that is"" PATENT CHINA," appeared in use between 1813and
IRONSTONE and below that is"BURGESS & 1825in different formsand impressed in one lineg,
GODDARD". in two or more linesor in circular form (Godden
In July of 1813 a patent was taken out by 1964). From 1820 onward the mark included a
Charles James Mason for "'a process for the crown and banner. Between 1813and 1848 large
improvement of the manufacture of English amounts of "' Patent Ironstone™ were produced.
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Figure 21: A — IronstoneChina, discovered in the artif act scatter west of Feature2. B — Red transfer Print ceramic, lip
edge of shallow dish. C-1 - Blue transfer print ceramic, the fragment istoo smdl to identify the design and date the
fragment. C- 2 — Reversesideof C-1 ceramicfragment.
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This heavy durable body was extensively em-
ployed for dinner and dessert pieces and because
it was robust, was well suited to the expanding
world markets of the nineteenth century (Godden
1975).

In 1848 Charles J. Mason became bankrupt,
and most of the molds and patterns were pur-
chased by Francis Morley who was in partner-
ship with George Ashworth from 1858to 1862
(Godden 1965). From 1862 George L. Ashworth
& Bros Ltd., traded at Hanley and then sold out
to J. H. Goddard in 1883, whose descendants
continue to use the designs and shapes of C. J.
Mason to this day (MacDonald-Taylor 1962).

However, Turner, Goddard & Co., Royal Albert
Pottery, from 1867 to 1874, produced a mark
dated July 1867, which reads"*ROYAL.
PATENT. IRONSTONE. TURNER.
GODDARD & CO" (Godden 1964).

The name Burgess first appeared in 1862, in
Staffordshire, England as Burgess & Leigh
(Ltd.). By 1864, Henry Burgess was producing
pottery with his own mark. Although the mark
Burgess & Goddard was not found for this
research, it is clear that both Burgess and
Goddard were in business in Staffordshire during
the latter portion of the 19lhcentury. The right to
use the term "*patent ironstone’* became the

Figure 22: The whole vessel, upper left, was discovered at Johnson's Island, a Civil War prisoner-of-war camp in
Ohio, it is a yellowware vessel with a brown Rockinghamdecoration. The small rim sherd, center left, comes from
41B0185, the artifact scatter west of Feature 2. It isapiece of a yellowware vessel with a brown Rockingham

decoration.




property of Goddard in 1883. In al probability this
piece was produced in Staffordshire, sometime
after 1883.

A small rim fragment of ayellowwarevessd
with a brown Rockingham decoration (Figure22)
was found among the artifact scatter to the west
of Feature 2. Although thereis no mark on this
piece, the shape of the rim suggestsit was a
spittoon, similar to the onediscovered at
Johnson's Island (Bush 2000). Johnson's Island is
in Sandusky Bay, just south of Marblehead
Peninsula, Lake Erie, Ohio, and was thelocation
of amilitary prison for confederateofficers
during the American Civil War. Unfortunately this
does not mean that the piece recovered from
41B (185 dates to that period, but |eaves open
thepossibility that it might.

Glass/Bottles

Two base fragments and a neck fragment of
a clear glass possible whiskey flask were
recovered from the artifact scatter west of
Feature 2. The flask is molded with a stretched
neck and applied lip. The shapeis Shoo-fly. On
the base of theflask there isacapital Ain a
circle and the neck treatmentisaring lip finish
above a narrow, beveled ring.

A whitemilk glassdisk with scalloped edges
and a broken stem (Figure 23: A-C) was recov-
ered from Feature 6, the small trash pit on the
south edge of the project area. The disk hasa
number of dates molded into the surface, the
latest completedate is July 20, 1886. Other dates
are™? 12, 76;Nov. 30, 86; Nov. 23, ?" and the
letters"PAT D". The earliest date this object
could have been deposited on the siteis 1886,
however, it's function was in doubt. Research
into patent information wasconducted and it was
discovered that theobject isajar lid liner in-
tended to hold thefruit or pickled produce below
thelevel of theliquid thereby preventing spoilage
of those piecesat the surface. The original patent
was issued to Elizabeth S. Hunt of Cleveland
Ohio in September of 1876 (Figure 23, D-1). In
March of 1886 the patent for the object recov-
eredfrom 4| B (85 wasissued to William
Somervilleaf St. LouisMo. (Figure23: D-2).

Faunal Remains

A totd of 79 bone fragments were recovered
f r o the artifact scatter area to the west of
Feature 2. These included bones of pig, cow and
turtle. No small mammal bones were recovered.
Some of the bones had been butchered into
standard supermarket cuts using powered saws.
Some of the bonesexhibited butchering with a
hatchet and with a hand saw. There was evi-
dence of large carnivore chewing, probably a
dog, however, thisisnot extensive and it does not
appear that the bones were left accessible to
scavengingfor any great length of time. Bones
which exhibit butchering with power equi pment
cameinto widespread use around 1900.

FEATURE INTERPRETATIONS

The featureslocated by subsurfacefield
investigation included twofireplace bases, a
cistern, a burn pit near what may have been shed
supports and a concentration of ash near what
appeared to have been afence post. These
features along with the scatter of artifactsal
seem consistent with the presence of a turn-of-
the-century homestead. The brick were made of
soft paste and may have been salvaged to build
the cistern and chimneysfor the house which
wasdf post-and-beam construction. This site
could also have been the result of reuse of what
had once been structures constructed during the
Civil War for military purposes, which would
explain the military artifactsreportedly recovered
from thearea by local informants. Military
artifactsare frequently found on homesteads
dating to thelast haf of the 19ttcentury, since
soldiersbrought such things home from the war.

CONCLUSIONSAND
RECOMMENDATIONS

The area recorded as archeological site
41B0185may a one time have been the location
of aCivil War Eramilitary camp. The brick used
for the chimneys and cistern appear to date to
that time period. However, the consistent use of
the property for the cultivation of sod has re-
moved any artifactual evidence of the area's



vl oo,
85,210 PRYaBRVING - PACKAGES FOR 345,999, JAR  WRLAM SoMERVILLEZ St Lanis. Mo Filsg Mar 29,
‘Taoire, &e. Ehzabeth B. Hunt, Clevelsnd. 1886 {No model)

Chia. [Hiled Aug 8, 1876.1

Brigf—To keep the fruit withis the jeice or
plekls, b adjuntable vertically, mad by two
macileations dminisbad in diameter for jars
of liarent aieas and shapes.

T
W@?‘ﬂ --:Pm{ |

i i

I The limmersiog- plate F, providad eth
atam L in combizntion with the boldiyg plata
C, and porer B, substaatially as and for the
parposs specified.

4. The bolding-plate C, procided with ihe
alagtin cashion 4, packing-strip e, 20d Lubula
oxtepsion D), in combinntiva with the cover
B. na set forth.

3. Theimmeming plate ¥.ana holiling nlate
C, connected by av adjustabls sten, 1n enm

bipation with the receaned neck of the pack Clavm.—1. in fruit-immersers. G upitey T.‘.n. ! :’”r,:,“"; an e

o A, and ita cover B, substentially s sad ;)enpilerv “"“h theead ¢, ha"mg toiltiug /. in combination with cover &
o the purposo set forth of jar or can @, substantially as ahown, and for the purpose deseribed.

2. In fraivimmersers, a dirk. c. havimy » harizomtal wpper portion

D-1 adapted 1o pugage with the inner eircumerence of the farcap. a de

pression of chamber, g, and a channel leading inte said depression, sub-
stantinliy s and for the porpose spexified.

dismereers, the combinatn

|'i'f\'.‘hp' 5 sMol g, a i

siphstantialle as A.:ui ’.'nr thie purpnse spenitied,

D-2

Figure 23: A whitemilk glassdisk with scalloped edges wasrecovered from Feature4,4180185. A - the undersideof
this disk contained patent information that resulted in the identification of it's function. B — Thestem section of the
artifact is broken. C - the scalloped edges of thedisk led tothe belief that it might be decorative rather than
utilitarian. D-1 — Copy of the original Patent September 12, 1876. D-2— Copy of the July 20, 1886 patent, both
published in theUS Patens Official Gazette U.S. Patent Office microfilmedby RP. Woodbridge, Conn.Research
Publications. Inc., 06252.



use as aCivil War erainstallation if indeed it ever
existed. The harvesting of sod is done with
machinery which slices the soil approximately 12
inch below the ground surface and removes this
soil along with the grass sod and rootsto be sold
for installation at another location. Mr. Weems
stated that as much as 10 inches of soil had been
removed from the project area during the years
he operated his sod farm on the site. The fact
that Feature 5, the northern brick fireplace base,
consisted of alayer of brick only one half brick
thick testifies to the almost compl ete destruction
of the site, it's artifacts, and features as a result
of previousagricultural activity and clearing.

If the site was used as a Civil War military
camp, thereis no evidence of that era within the
expanded TxDOT right-of-way. The only evi-
dence that remains is of what appearsto be a
turn of the century homestead and even that is
minimal. The brick scatter east of County Road
468, consists of only dumped bricks. Their
original location and use cannot be ascertained.
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Only an artifact scatter, some post molds, a
cistern devoid of historiccultural material,and a
couple of ashy depositscontaininga most no
artifacts remain; and these date to a period
between 1883 and 1947.

Previousdisturbanceby agricultural activities
has removed or destroyed any deposits that may
have been at this location. The portion of previ-
ously recorded archeol ogical site41B0O185 within
the current and proposed TXDOT right-of-way, a
strip 100to 125feet wide and nearly 1500 feet
long (approximately 4 acres) contains no archeo-
logical deposits with theintegrity to beeligible for
inclusion in the National Register of Historic
Places or to warrant designation as a State
Archeological Landmark.

Additional work north of thecurrently
explored location may be able to locate features
which could provideinformation about site use
prior to 1900. However, it isdoubtful this work
would befruitful given the removal of so much
soil from asite of such recent origin.
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